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A CORNER OF LONDON
THE LIBRARY QUADRILATERAL

▼

The Library quadrilateral is a historic site. It 
is one of the more interesting parts of the 
School, having included various inns, an 

early workhouse, a burial ground, a school and 
King’s College Hospital (above). It now contains 
the Lionel Robbins building, Cowdray House and 
the Lakatos building.

Portugal Street dates from the late 16th century, 
though its current name came later. Originally the 
south side of Lincoln’s Inn Fields was known as 
Portugal Row because the Portuguese embassy 
was there. Carey Street appears to be named 
after Nicholas Carey, a local landowner of the 
fi rst half of the 17th century when the area was 
fi rst turned to housing; its fi rst known mention 
was in 1708. Whatever its origins, in later years 
the term Carey Street became synonymous with 
fi nancial diffi culty thanks to the presence there of 
the Bankruptcy Court.

Like the rest of the area the site was in agricul-
tural use till relatively late. The southwestern edge 

belonged to the Holles estate, and the rest to 
Lincoln’s Inn Grange, which stood on the middle 
and southern part of the site. By the 18th century 
the Grange had become, or had been rebuilt as, an 
inn with a large courtyard. Much later, the corner 
received the John Watkins Plaza (built in 2003 and 
named after the eminent philosophy professor) 
which stands over a basement area. 

In Portugal Street there was a cemetery. A 
letter to The Times complained about it as early 
as 1838. Thereafter there were frequent refer-
ences to the nuisance that it constituted. In 1848 
it was estimated that more than 5,500 bodies 
had been interred in the confi ned space of the 
Portugal Street graveyard in the preceding 25 
years. The graveyard was closed to fresh burials 
after the cholera outbreak of that year and the 
dead were taken elsewhere. Acts of Parliament in 
1849 and 1852 regulated burials more effectively, 
giving powers to the General Board of Health 
and the Privy Council to prohibit new burials on 

 In LSE Magazine, summer 2006, George Kiloh wrote about the 
history of the Clare Market area before LSE arrived. Here he reveals more about the patch of land 
now home to the Library and other notable School buildings.

King’s College Hospital, Portugal Street, Lincoln’s Inn, 1860

Chancellors of the exchequer, like orchestral 
conductors, seem to live a long time. In the 
case of conductors, their longevity is usually 

attributed to the aerobic exercise their work involves. 
There is no obvious explanation for the durability of 
chancellors: one might have thought that oversee-

ing the British economy in the late 20th century 
was a ticket to an early grave. Yet, at the end 

of 2004, all chancellors back to 1974 were still 
with us – and all still able to give a powerful 
account of their period in offi ce.

Five of them accepted an initiative to 
explain themselves, to an audience of 
faculty, students and others at the School. 
Sadly, Jim Callaghan who could have 

taken the story back to 1964, was unable 
to take part. He declined graciously, citing ill-health. 
Callaghan died early in 2005. John Major also asked 
to be excused, on the grounds that his occupation of 
11 Downing Street had been brief. Yet his decision 
to put sterling into the Exchange Rate Mechanism 
(ERM) in October 1990 still exerts a decisive infl uence 
on British attitudes to the Euro.

Four of the fi ve chancellors who spoke – Denis 
Healey, Geoffrey Howe, Nigel Lawson and Norman 
Lamont – have already published memoirs of their 
time in offi ce. No doubt Kenneth Clarke will do so 
one day. Those memoirs, particularly Nigel Lawson’s 
impressive tome, which includes considerable detail 
on the economic policy debates of the time, will 
remain essential reading for students of the UK 
economy and politics in the last quarter of the 20th 
century. But this collection of lectures, delivered with 
the benefi t of a longer perspective, and perhaps 
without the apologia pro vita sua dimension of the 
political memoir, provides a succinct assessment of 
the crucial issues each chancellor faced. It shows 
how the economic legacy of one became a millstone 

– or a springboard – for the next. 
The lectures also give a fl avour of just what the 

Treasury and its people were like at that time. I worked 
in Great George Street under Healey, Howe and 
Lawson, observed the Treasury closely from the 
vantage point of the Confederation of British Industry 
(CBI) when Norman Lamont was chancellor, and was 
given a front-row seat in the Ken and Eddie show, 
when Clarke appointed me as deputy governor of the 
Bank of England. The Treasury described here, with 
all its warts and beauty spots on display, is indeed 
the one I knew.

The styles of the fi ve pieces are very different. 
In part, they refl ect the different personalities of 
the men, but also the nature of the problems they 
faced and the approach they took to them.

Chancellors’ tales
This autumn saw the publication of The Chancellors’ Tales: managing 
the British economy. The book emerged from the Chancellors Refl ect 
public lecture series held at the School in 2004. Howard Davies, who 
edited the book, introduces the collection.

Denis Healey’s refl ections are atmospheric, gossipy 
and personal. Perhaps, 30 years on, the personali-
ties of the time loom larger in the memory than the 
details of each public expenditure round. But Healey’s 
contribution also accurately refl ects the greater need 
at that time to achieve policy ends by persuasion. 
An approach to controlling infl ation built on prices 
and incomes policies stood or fell by the chancellor’s 
ability to bring the key trade union leaders along. 
Trade unions are barely mentioned by the other four, 
revealing commentary on the declining importance 
of organised labour during the period.

Geoffrey Howe focuses close attention on 
what he still sees as the defi ning moment of his 
chancellorship: confrontation with the massed ranks 
of the economics profession after the 1981 Budget, 
whose rigour caused 90 per cent of the profession in 
the UK to catch its collective breath. 364 economists 
wrote to The Times, rejecting his policy. Howe clearly 
thinks, two decades later, that he has had the better 
of the argument. Others remain to be convinced.

Nigel Lawson centres on the Mais Lecture of 
1984 in which he proposed his celebrated redefi -
nition of the respective roles of macro and micro 
economic policies. In future, he argued, we would 
see macro policy as the tool to control infl ation, while 
micro policy would be used to promote growth and 
employment. He argues that this revised formulation 
has become the new orthodoxy. (Gordon Brown does 
not wholly agree – but it is noteworthy that his own 
Mais lecture, in 1999, made extensive reference to 
Lawson’s 1984 version.)

Norman Lamont took offi ce after John Major’s 
fateful decision to put sterling into the ERM. He 
inevitably gives most prominence to the events of 
the summer of 1992, leading to our ignominious 
departure from the Mechanism on 16 September, 
and on the subsequent rapid reconstruction of 
a policy framework, some of whose elements, 
notably the infl ation target, survive to this day.

Kenneth Clarke, who inherited Lamont’s new 
framework in 1993, sees his biggest achievement 
as the reassertion of control over the public fi nances. 
He is not kind to his predecessor’s record on public 
spending. But he gives full weight, too, to the further 
development of the monetary policy framework 
which he pushed forward and, inevitably, gives his 
own trenchant views on the Euro in particular, and 
Britain’s European engagement in general.

Together with the transcripts of the Question 
and Answer sessions, which follow the lectures 
and in each case raise important additional issues, 
these lectures provide a fascinating insight into 
economic policy making in Britain from 1974 to 
1997 and beyond.  ■

Howard Davies
is director of LSE. The Chancellors’ Tales was published by 
Polity in November 2006, and costs £12.99 in paperback. ISBN 
0745638856. A series of lectures by UK foreign secretaries is 
also being edited, to be published as British Diplomacy: foreign 
secretaries refl ect by Politicos in January 2007.

KING’S COLLEGE LONDON ARCHIVES

Today’s quadrilateral showing Cowdray House (J), the 
Lakatos Building (T) and the Lionel Robbins Building (R)

‘The Treasury described 
here, with all its warts 
and beauty spots 
on display, is indeed 
the one I knew’
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grounds of health. Shortly after 1852 the bodies 
were taken from Portugal Street and reburied in 
the suburbs. 

Burials had continued despite the long-time exist-
ence of a poorhouse on the same site. Although the 
parish had run a poorhouse earlier, in 1770 it built 
a proper workhouse out of some of the houses 
along Portugal Street constructed in 1674. It was 
capable of housing 300 people. It had 30 rooms as 
well as offi ces, and must have been as crowded as 
the houses that the poor had left behind. The earlier 
system relied on each parish to take action for its 
own inhabitants. St Clement Danes ran its workhouse 
from 1771 to 1836. The site was not in use when in 
1839 King’s College, searching for premises close to 
its own building in the Strand, leased the old work-
house for their new hospital and built on it. When they 
had fi nished, most of the Portugal Street frontage 
was left open, with a large yard behind it. Opened 
in 1840, the hospital initially had 50 beds but very 
shortly expanded to 140. A contemporary picture 
of the hospital  (previous page) shows a four-storey 
L-shaped structure that appears to have embedded 
within it an older, gabled building. 

The quadrilateral in the 1900s

In 1903 the decision was made to shift the whole of 
the King’s hospital. The old Portugal Street hospital 
was then leased by King’s to WH Smith and Son, 
whose owner WFD Smith was chair of the KCH 
trustees – a position once held by his father. Smith’s 
did not buy the freehold until 1954.

WH Smith and Son rebuilt the premises in 1913-
16, and named it Strand House. The plan was to 
build three blocks, of which that facing Portugal 
Street and most of Carey Street was to be mainly 
offi ces, with the loading bays in the southern half of 
the Carey Street frontage. On its completion Smith’s 
found the new building immediately requisitioned by 

the government for use by the Postal Censor, and 
it was not until 1920 that they gained possession. 
Not long afterwards they installed a rifl e range on the 
roof, with appropriate strong curtain walls, the last 
remnants of which were fi nally removed only in 1984. 

Smith’s used Strand House as offi ces and a 
warehouse for their book trade, which explained 
the heavy fl oor construction that was appropriate 
for the LSE Library when it opened there in 1978. 
It also explains the industrial look to the exterior 
of the building. Smith’s left because inner-city 
warehousing had had its day. 

The Library site was fortunate in having had a 
near miss from an air raid in both world wars. On 
the night of 13/14 October 1915 a German naval 
airship passed over the area. It dropped its fi rst 
bomb in Exeter Street, with one death and ten 
injured; another outside the Lyceum Theatre in 
Wellington Street, killing 17 and injuring 21; one 
in the roadway at the corner of Drury Lane and 
the Aldwych; one slightly west of the entrance to 
Connaught House; two on the undeveloped site 
that later became Aldwych House; one on the 
Bankruptcy Court; another at the western end of 
Carey Street close to the junction with Portugal 
Street; and fi nally one in Lincoln’s Inn New Square 
where a stone commemorates the event. 

Then on 10 October 1940 a high explosive 
bomb, probably 50kg, landed at the corner of 
Carey and Portugal Streets. There were no casual-
ties but a large crater was made in the road and 
damage to buildings was considerable, even if 
quickly repaired. The pocked and twisted brass 
plate of Strand House remains in place, with an 
explanatory notice. It sits next to the plaque placed 
there on the 100th anniversary of the foundation 
of King’s College hospital, which appropriately 
acknowledges the generosity of WH Smith.

to the break in the roof line opposite the Library door. 
The Church Times had been founded in 1863 by the 
Palmer family, who ran it largely as a vehicle for the 
Anglo-Catholic tradition of the Church of England, 
then vigorously reasserting itself. The Church Times 
continued their success on this site. The building 
made room for 20 typesetters, who used molten 
metal right up to the end of the tenancy in 1989, 
who were on the upper fl oors (where the exterior rain 
collectors still bear the initials CT). The twelve editorial 
and managerial staff were below. (Sir) Edward Heath 
(1916-2005) worked as news editor of the Church 
Times from January 1948 to September 1949. His 
parliamentary career began in February 1950 and he 
was prime minister between 1970 and 1974.

The Church Times had a lease, from 1954 from 
the Prudential, that expired in 1989. In November 
that year they moved out to Islington, and the Palmer 
family surrendered their interest to the Council of 
the Canterbury Press, the publishing arm of Hymns 
Ancient and Modern. The premises were taken over 
by a multiplicity of small users and renamed Tymes 
Court in honour of its former occupants. In 1993 the 
School accepted free use of it from an anonymous 
donor who insisted that it should be used for the 
Centre for Philosophy of Natural and Social Science. 
The freehold followed in 1999. In 2001 Tymes Court 
was renamed after Imre Lakatos (1922-1974), a 
Hungarian academic who had shared very fully the 
vicissitudes of his country’s diffi culties and who left 
it after the unsuccessful rising of 1956. He joined 
the School staff in 1959 and ten years later became 
professor of logic.

The Library and the School

Negotiations by the School for Strand House 
began as early as 1963, when Smith’s were still 
busy carrying out substantial modifi cations to the 

‘ The Library site was 
fortunate in having had 
a near miss from an air 
raid in both world wars’

building, but the agreement to buy from Smith’s 
was made only late in 1970 and it was not until the 
end of 1973 that the School obtained the freehold 
(for £3.78 million). It leased Strand House back 
to Smith’s. Smith’s left at the end of March 1974, 
and the way was then clear to rebuild.

The cost of the conversion was estimated at 
£4.38 million, including all fi ttings. The University 
of London contributed £1.98 million on condition 
that the School found the remainder. It did so by 
an appeal that brought in enormous support from 
around the world. The appeal was a major campaign 
that included, perhaps as its highlight, a concert at 
the Banqueting House in Whitehall at which Geraint 
Evans performed under the baton of Philip Ledger, 
with the Royal Philharmonic Orchestra. It had public 
support, and that of HM The Queen Mother, who 
was chancellor of the University of London.

It was Lord Robbins (1898-1984) who led the 
appeal. He had joined LSE in 1925 and become a 
professor in 1929, a position he held until his early 
retirement in 1961; he was a life peer from 1959. 
He was then appointed chairman of the Financial 
Times, and he chaired the LSE governors from 
1968 to 1973. His main national claim to fame 
was as chair of the enquiry into higher education 
that published its report in 1963 and provided 
the justifi cation for the enormous expansion of 
student numbers that was then just beginning. 
When the new library was opened in 1978 it was 
named the Lionel Robbins Building.

Inevitably the time came for the ever-growing 
Library again to feel the pinch. In 1986 it was reported 
that storage space would run out in 1988; during the 
1990s it became clear that the Library had outgrown 
the building in the form adopted after Smith’s with-
drawal, both in terms of books and users. The deci-
sion was made to rebuild it on its present site rather 
than attempt the impossible of again fi nding a new 
one close to Houghton Street. Norman Foster and 
Partners were commissioned to design the present 
building between 1999 and 2001, formally opened 
by the University of London chancellor, HM The 
Princess Royal. The results are now enjoyed by the 
current generation of students, and here this part 
of the story ends.

The story of LSE and its place in this corner of 
London, however, will continue.  ■

George Kiloh
was LSE’s academic registrar from 1996 to 2005.

The Lakatos building and Cowdray House

The Library quadrilateral also includes the Lakatos 
building and Cowdray House, which have a very 
different history. Their plot involves St Clement’s 
Lane, this section of which was historically called 
Gilbert Street, and part of what was then Gilbert’s 
Passage. An option to build was taken by George 
Bell and Sons, publishers, who reserved the south-
ern, larger portion and called it York House; they 
moved into it early in 1904. The Church Times 
took the northern part.

The whole was to the design of Horace Field (1861-
1948), a well-known architect of the day whose 
offi ces were in fashionable Langham Place. Today 
is it is a listed building, Grade II. It is probably the 
School’s most elegant building: stylish neo-Georgian 
rather than the clunky pastiche that became popular 
in the 1920s.

The corner of Portugal Street and St Clement’s 
Lane has a mildly ceremonial entrance topped with 
a stone shield with the device of a bell and a Greek 
quotation which appears to be part of 1 Corinthians 
3.7. The Authorised Version renders the whole rele-
vant passage as ‘[5] Who then is Paul, and who 
is Apollos, but ministers by whom ye believed ... 
[6] I have planted, Apollos watered; but God gave 
the increase. [7] So then neither is he that planteth 
any thing, neither he that watereth; but God that 
giveth the increase’, the italicised piece being the 
translation.

George Bell and Sons was a fi rm of some repute. 
Founded in Bouverie Street in 1839 as an educational 
bookseller, it became a publisher concentrating on 
serious works and children’s books. Despite its 
reputation the fi rm did not survive the post-1945 
shakeout of British publishing and, following a resale, 
fi nally went out of business in 1989. 

Part of the same development by Field, 7 Portugal 
Street is now the Lakatos building. It stretches back 

Above, left to right: Portugal Street and the Library 
building today

The John Watkins Plaza

The Library’s spiral staircase

Cowdray House on St Clement’s Lane




